IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE ex rel. KAMALA D. HARRIS, as Attorney General, etc.,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

 \mathbf{v}

PAC ANCHOR TRANSPORTATION, INC., et al.,

Defendants and Petitioners.

Case Number S194388

OCT 2 5 2011

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Five [Case No. B220966]

Appeal from a Judgment of the Superior Court for Los Angeles County Hon. Elizabeth A. White, Judge [Case No. BC397600]

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Neil S. Lerner (SBN 134031) Arthur A. Severance (SBN 246691) SANDS LERNER

12400 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 1300

Los Angeles, CA 90603

Tel.: (310) 979-9144

Fax: (310) 979-9244

ISSUE PRESENTED

Can the State of California (the "State") enforce its employment laws against motor carriers by seeking an injunction under the Unfair Competition Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 et seq., to compel them to treat individuals who drive trucks for them as employees, rather than independent contractors, or is such an action unconstitutional because it is preempted by the Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act ("FAAAA"), 49 U.S.C. § 14501(c)(1)?

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendants-Petitioners Pac Anchor Transportation, Inc., and Alfredo Barajas request that the Court resolve this issue of importance to all motor carriers and air carriers. Causes of action under the Unfair Competition Law ("UCL"), Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, against air and motor carriers interfere with the forces of competition in direct contravention of the FAAAA and the Airline Deregulation Act. ("ADA"), 49 U.S.C. § 41713, and are therefore preempted on their face.

In addition, the particular UCL claim the State has asserted against Petitioners is preempted because it seeks to force Petitioners to treat the drivers as employees, and therefore threatens to have a direct and significant effect on Petitioner's prices, routes, and services. Moreover, the claim threatens to impose the very State policy and erect the very entry control discouraging the participation of independent contractor drivers in the market that Congress sought to preempt when it enacted the FAAAA. Therefore, even if the effect of the State's claim on Petitioner's prices, routes, and services is remote it is nevertheless preempted.

The Opinion of the Court of Appeal in this matter has caused a split in authority regarding these issues. The Court should hold that the ADA and FAAAA preempt the UCL and the State's UCL claim, and resolve the tension between State and federal policy.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Proceedings in the Trial Court.

This case comes before the Court following the entry of judgment on a motion for judgment on the pleadings. Therefore, the material allegations of the State's Complaint are presumed to be true. Smiley v. Citibank ("Smiley"), 11 Cal. 4th 138, 145-46 (1995), aff'd 517 U.S. 735 (1996). Those allegations are that Petitioners transport cargo from the Ports of Los Angeles and Long Beach to various locations throughout Southern California using trucks that are owned by one of the Petitioners and leased to the other and which are operated by drivers that the Petitioners classify as independent contractors. (1 Appellant's App. ("A.A.") 9:26-10:3, 10:20-11:5, 13:6-7.) The State alleges that the drivers are employees, not independent contractors, and that by misclassifying the drivers Petitioners have violated the following California employment statutes, Sections 976, 976.6, 984, and 13020 of the Unemployment Insurance Code, Sections 226, 1194, 2802, and 3700 of the Labor Code, and Sections 4 and 7 of I.W.C. Wage Order 9-2001. (Id. 13:6-14:7.) The State's Complaint asserts a single cause of action against Petitioners, for relief under the UCL predicated on the alleged violations, and demands equitable relief, including restitution, a civil penalty, and a permanent injunction.. (*Id.* 13:1-14:23, 13:27-15:10.)

The State alleges that by failing to comply with the state employment statutes enumerated above, Petitioners have violated California law and have harmed the drivers, the general public, and the State. (*Id.* 14:8-15, 20-21.) The State further alleges that by misclassifying the drivers, Petitioners have "illegally lowered their costs of doing business," unfairly and unlawfully profited, and obtained an unfair advantage over their competitors. (*Id.* 10:3-11, 12:4-8, 14:8-12.)

Petitioners moved for judgment on the pleadings. (2 A.A. 428:22-24, 432:11-13.) The trial court granted the motion, concluding that the FAAAA preempted the State's UCL claim for three reasons.

First, the court determined that the court Fitz-Gerald v. Skywest ("Fitz-Gerald"), 65 Cal. Rptr. 3d 913, 921-22 (2007), held the preemptive language of the ADA to preempt all causes of action under the UCL against air carriers per se (i.e., on its face). (2 A.A. 429:20-22.) Because the FAAAA uses the same preemptive language as the ADA, the trial court held that the FAAAA preempts all causes of action under the UCL against motor carriers per se. (Id. 429:23-430:3.)

Second, the court applied the effect test for FAAAA preemption. It found that the injunction the State seeks would force the carriers to treat the drivers as employees, which would affect the carriers' prices, routes, and services directly and significantly. (*Id.* 430:11-26.)

Third, the trial court found that Congress enacted the FAAAA "to remove a California entry control that discouraged the use of independent contractors by motor carriers," and that the requested relief would require the drivers "to purchase trucks or negotiate new leases" to remain independent contractors. (*Id.* 431:9-11, 17-20.) Consequently, the Court found that the State's UCL claim "seeks to erect the specific type of entry control that Congress sought to dismantle" when it enacted the FAAAA. (*Id.* 431: 21-24.) The trial court therefore held that the State's UCL claim threatens to interfere with Congress' deregulatory purpose and is preempted "even if it is only remotely connected with" the carriers' prices, routes, and services. (*Id.* 431:25-28.)

II. The Court of Appeal's Decision.

The Court of Appeal reversed. The court disagreed with the holding of *Fitz-Gerald* that the preemptive language of the ADA preempts all causes of action under the UCL against air carriers. The court stated, "Where a cause of action is based on allegations of unlawful violations of the State's labor and unemployment insurance laws, we see no reason to find preemption merely because the pleading raised these issue under the UCL, as opposed to separately stated causes of action." (Opn. at 8.)

In applying the effect test for FAAAA preemption, the court focused on the fact that the State's UCL claim is based on alleged violations of state employment laws. The court found that those laws were ones of general applicability. (Opn. at 9-10.) Therefore, it held that the effect of those laws on Petitioners' prices, routes, and services is too tenuous for the FAAAA to preempt them. (Opn. at 10.) The court also held that the State's UCL claim based on the alleged violation of those laws "is not an action related to the price, route, or service of a motor carrier and, therefore not preempted by the FAAAA." (Opn. at 10.)

The court did not address the reference test for FAAAA preemption and did not address the trial court's holding that the State's UCL claim is preempted because it threatens to interfere with Congress' deregulatory purpose by erecting an entry control.

ARGUMENT

I. LEGAL BACKGROUND

A. This Matter Is Subject to De Novo Review.

The Court's review of rulings on motions for judgment on the pleadings is *de novo* because such motions, like general demurrers, present "a mixed question of law and fact that is predominantly legal: does the plaintiff's complaint state facts sufficient to state a cause of

action against the defendant?" Smiley, 11 Cal. 4th 138, 145-46 (1995), aff'd 517 U.S. 735 (1996); see also Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 438(c)(1).

In reviewing such rulings, the Court is not limited to considering theories raised below; instead, it may consider new grounds because it is reviewing the validity of the rulings below, not the reasons the rulings were reached. *Harris v. Wachovia Mortgage*, 111 Cal. Rptr. 3d 20, 22-23 (2010); *Smith v. Wells Fargo Bank*, *N.A.*, 38 Cal. Rptr. 3d 653, 666 (2005).

In conducting its review, the Court must accept the properly plead factual allegations of the Complaint as true, may consider defects appearing on the face of the Complaint, and may consider matters regarding which the Court may take judicial notice. *Smiley*, 11 Cal. 4th at 146; *Harris*, 111 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 23; *Hood v. Santa Barbara Bank & Trust*, 49 Cal. Rptr. 3d 369, 376 (2006).

Because the question of federal preemption based on such undisputed facts is one of law, the Court's review of rulings regarding preemption, including determinations regarding Congress' preemptive intent, is also *de novo*. *Hood*, 49 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 24; *Smith*, 28 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 666.

B. The FAAAA Preempts State Action Related to Motor Carrier Prices, Routes, or Services.

The preemptive provision of the FAAAA states, in relevant part:

[A] State, political subdivision of a State, or political authority of 2 or more States may not enact or enforce any law, regulation, or other provision having the force and effect of law related to a price, route, or service of any motor carrier....

49 U.S.C. § 14501(c)(1). There are several enumerated exceptions to FAAAA preemption, none of which applies to the facts of this case.

The FAAAA applies to state action regarding motor carriers of property. § 14501(c). It defines a motor carrier as "a person providing

motor vehicle transportation for compensation." § 13102(14). The State alleges that Petitioners transport cargo using trucks. (1 A.A. 10:20-11:3.) Therefore, they transport property using motor vehicles. The State further alleges that Petitioners "lowered their costs of doing business," "conduct business," and have "competitors," (*Id.* 10:4, 26, 11:6-7, 14:9) creating the logical inference that Petitioners transport property using motor vehicles for compensation. Therefore, Petitioners are motor carriers of property within the meaning of the FAAAA.

C. Congressional Intent Is the Touchstone of Preemption Analysis.

To determine whether the FAAAA preempts the State's UCL claim, the Court must consider whether Congress intended such preemption. Under the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution, art. VI, cl. 2, federal law enacted pursuant to the Constitution such as the FAAAA is supreme over, and therefore preempts, state law, even state law that is consistent with the federal law's substantive requirements. *Morales v. Trans World Airlines* ("Morales"), 504 U.S. 374, 387 (1992); *N.H. Motor Transp. Ass'n v. Rowe* ("N.H."), 448 F.3d 66, 74 (1st Cir. 2006), *aff'd Rowe v. N.H. Motor Transp. Ass'n* ("Rowe"), 552 U.S. 364 (2008); Smiley, 11 Cal. 4th at 147.

However, federal law is presumed not to preempt traditional state police powers unless Congress' purpose to the contrary is clear and manifest. *Californians for Safe & Competitive Dump Truck Transp. v. Mendonca* ("Mendonca"), 152 F.3d 1184, 1185 (9th Cir. 1998); Smiley, 11 Cal. 4th at 148. Therefore, "[i]n every preemption case, 'the purpose of Congress is the ultimate touchstone." *E.g.*, N.H., 448 F.3d at 72; Smiley, 11 Cal. 4th at 147.

[&]quot;Although they are not binding, decisions of the lower federal courts are entitled to great weight on questions of federal law." S.Cal. Gas Co. v. Occup. Safety & Health App. Bd., 67 Cal. Rptr. 2d 892, 896 (1997).

Congress borrowed the preemptive "related to" language it used in the FAAAA from comparable provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA"), 29 U.S.C. § 1144(a), and the ADA; therefore, case law regarding ERISA and ADA preemption is precedential authority regarding Congress' intent in enacting the FAAAA and regarding the breadth of FAAAA preemption.² H.R. Conf. Rep. 103-677 ("HRCR") at 83-85 (1993) (1 A.A. 266-68); *Rowe*, 552 U.S. at 370; *Mendonca*, 152 F.3d at 1188 nn.4-5.

D. The Court Must Apply a Reference and an Effect Test to Determine Whether State Action Is Preempted.

The U.S. Supreme Court considered Congress' intent regarding the preemptive language used in the ADA and the FAAAA in *Morales v. Trans World Airlines, Inc.*, 504 U.S. 374 (1992), a case regarding ADA preemption in the context of state consumer protection statutes, <u>including the UCL</u>. *Id.* at 383; see *Trans World Airlines v. Mattox* ("*TWA*"), 712 F. Supp. 99, 105 (W.D. Tex. 1989) and id., 897 F.2d 773, 776, 788 (W.D. Tex. 1990), aff'd in relevant part, Morales, 504 U.S. 374; Req. for J. Not. ¶ 1, Ex. A at 1, 3-4. In *Morales*, the Court stated that the best evidence of Congress' preemptive intent is the plain language and ordinary meaning of the preemption provision itself, and that the intent may also be ascertained from the provision's structure and purpose. *Morales*, 504 U.S. at 383.

The Court examined the preemptive language of the ADA, and found that by using the phrase "related to," Congress did not merely intend to preempt the enactment and enforcement of state laws,

There is some variation in language in case law and statutory law regarding preemption resulting from recodification. However, Congress stated that it intended no change in meaning or judicial interpretation when it changed "relating to" to "related to" and when it changed "rate" to "price." HRCR at 83-84 (1 A.A. 266-67). As the FAAAA uses "related to" and "price," those terms are used herein.

regulations, and other provisions having the force and effect of law (hereinafter collectively "state action") directly regulating air carrier prices, routes, or services. *Id.* at 385-86. Instead, Congress deliberately and broadly expressed an intent to preempt state action having "a connection with, or reference to," air carrier prices, routes, or services, even state action that is consistent with federal law, not intended to affect prices, routes or services, or indirect. *Id.* at 384, 386-87.

The Court performed two tests to determine whether the ADA's preemptive provision preempted the Attorneys General of various states, including California, from enforcing advertising guidelines against air carriers using state consumer protection statutes, including the UCL. *Id.* at 378, 380, 383, 390; see *TWA*, 712 F. Supp. at 105; *id.*, 897 F.2d at 788; Req. for J. Not. ¶ 1, Ex. A at 1, 3-4. In each instance, the Court relied upon logical reasoning rather than empirical evidence.

First, the Court considered whether the advertising guidelines "related to" the air carriers' prices, routes, or services by referring to them (the "reference test"). *Morales*, 504 U.S. at 388. The Court found that the guidelines referred to airfares, and did so in a way that would give rise to a cause of action under a Texas consumer protection statute to enforce advertised airfares lacking required disclaimers. *Id.* The Court indicated that such a cause of action would be "related to" air carrier prices, routes, and services, and would therefore be preempted. *See id.* at 388.

The Court also considered whether the advertising guidelines were preempted for having the "forbidden significant effect" on the air carriers' prices, routes, or services (the "effect test"). *Id.* The Court determined that the guidelines would significantly impact the air carriers' marketing, and consequently would have a significant effect on their prices. *Id.* at 389-90. The court indicated that the effect test therefore provided an alternate ground for finding the guidelines preempted. *See id.* at 389.

However, the Court cautioned that in other instances certain state action such as state gambling and prostitution laws, may affect prices, routes, and services in "too tenuous, remote, or peripheral a manner" to be preempted under the effect test. *Id.* at 390.

The Court held the advertising guidelines to be preempted and affirmed the decisions by district court and the court of appeals to permanently and prospectively enjoin the states from taking action related enforcing the guidelines. *Id.* at 380, 382-83, 390-91; *see TWA*, 897 F.2d at 788 (indicating the injunction only applied prospectively). Although the Court framed the issue presented as whether the ADA preempted enforcement of the advertising guidelines by means of state consumer protection statutes, because such enforcement was only threatened, the court did not expressly hold it to be preempted, *Id.* at 378, 382-83. However, because the injunction encompassed such state action, the Court's holding also indicated that the ADA preempted the use of state consumer protection statutes, including the UCL, to enforce the guidelines.

Because Congress adopted the preemptive language from the ADA in enacting the FAAAA, the analysis the Court employed in *Morales* applies to FAAAA preemption, too. Therefore, *Morales* sets forth two tests to determine whether Congress explicitly intended the FAAAA to preempt state action such as the State's UCL claim:

- 1. A reference test under which state action that refers to motor carrier prices, routes, or services is preempted; and
- 2. An effect test under which state action that directly and significantly affects the carriers' prices routes and services.

In applying these tests, courts need not consider empirical evidence; it is sufficient to demonstrate a logical effect. *See N.H.*, 448 F.3d 66, 82 n.14 (1st Cir. 2006), *aff'd Rowe*, 552 U.S. 364 (2008).

Morales further indicates that claims under state consumer protection statutes, including the UCL, and the state laws whose violation serves as the predicate for such claims are subject to preemption, and that the Court may consider the structure and purpose of the FAAAA in addition to applying the reference and effect tests to determine whether the provision preempts the State's UCL claim.

E. The State's UCL Claim Is Preempted on Its Face.

The U.S. Supreme Court revisited the issue of Congress' intent in enacting the preemptive language used in the ADA and the FAAAA in American Airlines, Inc. v. Wolens, 513 U.S. 219, 225 (1995), another case regarding ADA preemption of claims under state unfair competition and consumer protection statutes (hereinafter "state consumer protection statutes"). The Court expressly held that the ADA preempted claims under the consumer protection statute at issue. Id. at 228.

That statute was the Illinois Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act ("Illinois Consumer Fraud Act"), 815 Ill. Comp. Stat. § 505, which like the UCL prohibits "unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices," Wolens, 513 U.S. at 227, quoting 815 Ill. Comp. Stat. § 505/2; compare 815 Ill. Comp. Stat. § 505/2 with Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200. Both laws parallel Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), such that courts look to case law regarding the Act when interpreting the state consumer protection statutes. Cel-Tech Comme'ns, Inc. v. Los Angeles Cellular Tel. Co. ("Cel-Tech"), 20 Cal. 4th 163, 185 (1999); Robinson v. Toyota Motor Credit Corp., 775 N.E. 2d 951, 960 (Ill. 2002); 815 Ill. Comp. Stat. § 505/2.

The Court fleetingly confirmed that the ADA explicitly preempts state claims "relating to" the prices, routes, and services of air carriers by finding that the complaints at issue stated claims related to prices, routes, and services. *Wolens*, 513 U.S. at 226. Just as in *Morales*, the Court did not consider any empirical evidence in reaching that holding. However, in contrast to *Morales*, the Court did not expressly perform the reference and effect tests.

Instead, the Court stated that it "need not dwell on the question" of whether the claim was preempted that way and proceeded to analyze the nature both of the Illinois Consumer Fraud Act and of the preemptive language of the ADA. *Id.* at 226-28. The Court looked to the language and purpose each provision, *see id.* at 227-28, confirming the procedure it set forth in *Morales* of looking both to the plain language of the preemptive provision and to its structure and purpose to determine the preemptive effect Congress intended it to have.

The Court examined the phrase "enact or enforce" in the preemption provision and noted the prescriptive effect of the state consumer protection statute at issue and the "potential for intrusive regulation of [carrier] business practices inherent in consumer protection legislation" *Id.* at 227. The Court found that because state Attorneys General could draw up guidelines regarding carrier business practices from preexisting state law and enforce them through consumer protection statutes, as they had tried in *Morales*, consumer protection statutes provided a unlawful means for states "to guide and police" the business practices of carriers. *Id.* at 228. The Court stated:

In light of the full text of the preemption clause, and of the ADA's purpose to leave largely to the airlines themselves, and not at all to States, the selection and design of marketing mechanisms appropriate to the furnishing of air transportation services, we conclude that [the ADA's preemption clause] preempts plaintiffs' claims under the Illinois Consumer Fraud Act.

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