### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA EX REL. KAMALA D. HARRIS, AS ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Appellant,

v.

PAC ANCHOR TRANSPORTATION, INC., A CORPORATION, AND ALFREDO BARAJAS, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Respondents.

Case No. S194388

SUPREME COURT

JAN 2 7 2012

Frederick K. Omnon Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Case No. B220966 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC397600 Hon. Elizabeth A. White, Judge

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
MARK BRECKLER
Chief Assistant Attorney General
SATOSHI YANAI
Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 186355

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

Pursuant to the Supremacy Clause of the Constitution, the laws of the United States "shall be the supreme Law of the Land." (U.S. Const., Art. VI.) Thus, state law that conflicts with federal law is "without effect" and preempted. (*Cipollone v. Liggett Group, Inc.* (1992) 505 U.S. 504, 516 (hereafter *Cipollone*).)

Federal law can preempt state law by express provision, by implication, or by a direct conflict between federal and state law. (*New York State Conference of Blue Cross and Blue Shield Plans v. Travelers Ins. Co.* (1995) 514 U.S. 645, 654 (hereafter *Travelers*).) However, where – as here – the possibility of preemption arises from an express statutory provision, there is no need to consider any possible implied preemptive effect, since "Congress' enactment of a provision defining the pre-emptive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The trial court's Order actually enumerates four grounds for granting the motion. However, the fourth ground merely states that the complaint failed to state a cause of action *because* the complaint was both preempted *per se* and related to prices, routes, or services.

reach of a statute implies that matters beyond that reach are not preempted." (*Cipollone*, *supra*, 505 U.S. at p. 517.)

In construing federal preemption, there is a "presumption that Congress does not intend to supplant state law." (Travelers, supra, 514 U.S. at p. 654.) This is especially true in areas of traditional state concern, such as taxes, employment regulation, and unfair business practices. (See Travelers, supra, 514 U.S. at p. 655 ["in fields of traditional state regulation, [citation omitted], we have worked on the 'assumption that the historic police powers of the States were not to be superseded by the Federal Act unless that was the clear and manifest purpose of Congress'"] [quoting Rice v. Santa Fe Elevator Corp. (1947) 331 U.S. 218, 230]; see also Dept. of Revenue of Oregon v. ACF Industries, Inc., supra, 510 U.S. at p. 345 [power to tax is "central to state sovereignty"]; Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. v. Massachusetts (1985) 471 U.S. 724, 756 [noting traditional state power to regulate child labor, minimum wages, occupational health and safety, workers' compensation, and unemployment insurance], abrogated in part on other grounds by Kentucky Assn. of Health Plans, Inc. v. Miller (2003) 538 U.S. 329; and Washington Mutual Bank v. Superior Court (2002) 95 Cal.App.4th 606, 613 [consumer protection statutes "are included in the states' police power and thus subject to this heightened presumption against preemption"].)

However, "[t]he purpose of Congress is the ultimate touchstone" of preemption analysis. (*Cipollone*, *supra*, 505 U.S. at p. 516.) Analysis thus begins with the text of the allegedly preemptive federal law, turning to "the structure and purpose of the Act in which it occurs" if necessary to interpret the statutory language. (*Travelers*, *supra*, 514 U.S. at p. 655.)

The express preemption provision found in the FAAAA provides as follows:

Except as provided in paragraphs (2) and (3), a State, political subdivision of a State, or political authority of 2 or more States may not enact or enforce a law, regulation, or other provision having the force and effect of law related to a price, route, or service of any motor carrier (other than a carrier affiliated with a direct air carrier covered by section 41713(b)(4)) or any motor private carrier, broker, or freight forwarder with respect to the transportation of property.

(49 U.S.C. § 14501(c)(1) (hereafter sometimes, for simplicity, "Section 14501(c)(1)".)

The provision was enacted in 1994 to preempt state trucking regulations and allow free-market forces to shape prices, routes, and services in the trucking industry. (*Rowe v. New Hampshire Motor Transport Assn.* (2008) 552 U.S. 364, 367-368 (hereafter *Rowe*).) The statute was also intended to "level the playing field" between motor carriers and air transport companies, since the air carrier industry had previously been deregulated by the Airline Deregulation Act ("ADA"). (See H.R. Conf. Rep. No. 103-677 (1994), reprinted in 1994 U.S. Code Cong. & Admin. News at pp. 1755, 1757 [Appx., Vol. I, at pp. 266, 268] [purpose of preemption provisions in FAAAA is to apply to both air and motor carriers "the identical intrastate preemption of prices, routes and services" that are applicable to airlines under the ADA].)

Indeed, because the express preemption provision of the ADA employs language identical to that found in the FAAAA, cases construing the ADA provision are considered precedential authority for cases involving FAAAA preemption. (See *Rowe*, *supra*, 552 U.S. at p. 370 [following ADA precedent in construing FAAAA preemption, noting identical language of 49 U.S.C. §§ 41713(b)(4)(A) (ADA) and 14501(c)(1) (FAAAA)].)

Section 14501(c)(1) clearly establishes a two-step analysis for determining whether a state claim is preempted: (1) the claim must be

related to a price, route, or service, and (2) "the claim must derive from the enactment or enforcement of state law." (*Tanen v. Southwest Airlines Co.* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 1156, 1159 (hereafter *Tanen*).) <sup>4</sup> A claim "relates to" a price, route, or service if it has "a connection with *or* reference to" such a price, route, or service. (*Morales v. Trans World Airlines* (1992) 504 U.S. 374, 384 (hereafter *Morales*), emphasis added.) The required "connection" can be indirect, yet may still be preempted if it nevertheless has a "significant impact" on a price, route, or service. (*Rowe, supra*, 552 U.S. at pp. 370-371, 375; see also *Tanen, supra*, 187 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1166-1167 [relation to price, route, or service exists "either by expressly referring to them or by having a significant economic effect upon them"].) However, state actions are not preempted if their relation to prices, routes, or services is "too tenuous, remote, or peripheral." (*Morales, supra*, 504 U.S. at p. 390.)

- I. UCL ACTIONS AGAINST MOTOR CARRIERS ARE NOT FACIALLY PREEMPTED BY THE FAAAA.
  - A. The Plain Language of Section 14501(c)(1) Requires Courts to Consider Whether a UCL Action Against a Motor Carrier is Related to Prices, Routes, or Services.

Pac Anchor insists that there is no need to engage in any "particularized analysis" of whether the People's UCL claims are related to Pac Anchor's prices, routes, or services because "[t]he FAAAA preempts the UCL on its face." (Opening Brief on the Merits ("Br. of Resp.") at p. 22.) However, Pac Anchor's proposed *per se* rule of preemption cannot be squared with the plain language of Section 14501(c)(1).

Since "[t]he purpose of Congress is the ultimate touchstone" of preemption analysis, (*Cipollone*, *supra*, 505 U.S. at p. 516), the scope of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> There is no dispute that the People's enforcement at issue derives from "the enactment or enforcement of state law."

preemption should hew closely to the text of the allegedly preemptive federal law. (*Travelers*, *supra*, 514 U.S. at p. 655.) This is especially true when a claim of preemption threatens to eviscerate state regulation in areas of traditional state concern, like treatment of unfair business practices. (See *Washington Mutual Bank v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 95 Cal.App.4th at pp. 612-13 [consumer protection entitled to presumption against preemption as an exercise of state "police power"].) Preemption of the states' police powers should only be permitted if that is the "clear and manifest" intent of Congress. (*Travelers*, *supra*, 514 U.S. at pp. 654-655.) In the instant case, nothing in Section 14501(c)(1) supports Pac Anchor's proposal that preemption can apply to state action without a demonstrated relationship to prices, routes, or services.

Pac Anchor nevertheless posits that the People's UCL action necessarily attempts to regulate competition, and that any effect upon "business practices" or "competition" within the motor carrier industry is necessarily "related to" motor carrier prices, routes, or services within the meaning of the FAAAA. To the contrary, if a state action's only purported relationship to a price, route, or service is indirect, then it is not preempted unless it has a "significant impact" that compels a change to a carrier's prices, routes, or services. (See Air Trans. Assn. of Am. v. City and County of San Francisco (9th Cir. 2001) 266 F.3d 1064, 1072 (hereafter ATAA v. S.F.) [local law has connection with price, route, or service if the law "binds the air carrier to a particular price, route, or service and thereby interferes with competitive market forces ..."].) Thus, even accepting, arguendo, the premise that the UCL regulates "competition," this alone would not justify the conclusion that application of the UCL to motor carriers in every case has a relationship to prices, routes, or services, or that any such relationship is always sufficiently significant to warrant categorical preemption of all UCL claims against motor carriers.

Moreover, UCL actions are not "invariably concerned" (Br. of Resp. at p. 22) with the effect of unlawful business practices upon competition. When asserting a UCL claim under the "unlawful" prong of the statute – as contrasted with the "unfair" or "fraudulent" prongs of the UCL – a plaintiff need not allege any anticompetitive business practice or demonstrate any injury to competitors or consumers. (See Comm. on Children's Television, Inc. v. Gen. Foods Corp., supra, 35 Cal.3d at pp. 209-210 [Section 17200] "not confined to anticompetitive business practice"]; People v. Cappuccio, Inc., supra, 204 Cal.App.3d at p. 760 [allegations of harm to consumers or competitors unnecessary].) While the UCL can be used to target "unfair" anticompetitive conduct, it also provides a cause of action against any "unlawful" conduct that takes place in the course of business. (Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200; Farmers Ins. Exchange v. Superior Court, supra, 2 Cal.4th at p. 383.) Pac Anchor's proposed "facial preemption" of UCL claims based on the statute's reference to unfair competition ignores the fact that demonstration of anticompetitive conduct is not a necessary element of a UCL claim.

Indeed, UCL claims can incorporate a wide range of independent violations of law. (See *State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 45 Cal.App.4th at 1103 ["Virtually any law – federal, state or local – can serve as a predicate for a section 17200 action"].) Acceptance of Pac Anchor's facial preemption model would exclude UCL complaints against motor carriers even if the underlying subject matter of the claim was narcotics smuggling, human trafficking, or some other unlawful conduct patently *un*related to "prices, routes, or services." (Cf. *Morales*, *supra*, 504 U.S. at 390 ["In concluding that the NAAG fare advertising guidelines are preempted, we do not, ... set out on a road that leads to preemption of state laws against gambling and prostitution as applied to airlines"].)

Moreover, preemption determinations under Section 14501(c)(1) must look to the particular circumstances of the case, and their relation to prices, routes, or services – not superficial consideration of the *type* of state claim at issue. (See *Travel All Over the World, Inc. v. Kingdom of Saudi Arabia* (7th Cir. 1996) 73 F.3d 1423, 1433 (hereafter *Travel All Over*) ["Morales does not permit us to develop broad rules concerning whether certain types of ... claims are preempted ... [i]nstead, we must examine the underlying facts of each case to determine whether the particular claims at issue 'relate to' airline rates, routes, or services"]; see also *Branche v. Airtran Airways, Inc.* (11th Cir. 2003) 342 F.3d 1248, 1263 fn.9 [claims "must be evaluated on a case-by-case basis to determine the connection between the action in question and airline services"].)

Pac Anchor claims support for its "per se" approach in *American Airlines, Inc. v. Wolens* (1995) 513 U.S. 219 (hereafter *Wolens*), in which the United States Supreme Court found a claim under the Illinois unfair business practice statute to be preempted. Pac Anchor relies on language in *Wolens* that highlights the regulatory danger of state unfair business practice statutes that can be used to "guide and police" carrier business decisions. However, a more thorough reading of *Wolens* makes evident that nothing in the decision supports the adoption of any rule of facial preemption.

Wolens involved private class actions brought by participants in American Airlines' frequent flyer program. (Wolens, supra, 513 U.S. at p. 224.) The plaintiffs alleged that changes made by the airline to its frequent flyer program had devalued mileage credits already earned by passengers, and thus constituted both a violation of Illinois's unfair business practices act and a breach of contract. (Id. at p. 225.) The Wolens Court proceeded to apply the two-step test for preemption by determining: (1) whether the plaintiffs' claims "related to" prices, routes, or services; and (2) whether

this private action constituted an enactment or enforcement of state law. (49 U.S.C. § 14501(c)(1); *Wolens*, 513 U.S. at pp. 226-227.)

From the outset, the *Wolens* Court found the "relatedness" inquiry in the case before it to be straightforward and obvious:

Plaintiffs' claims relate to "rates," *i.e.*, American's charges in the form of mileage credits for free tickets and upgrades, and to "services," *i.e.*, access to flights and class-of-service upgrades unlimited by retrospectively applied capacity controls and blackout dates.

(Wolens, supra, 513 U.S. at p. 226.) <sup>5</sup> Thus, rather than finding unfair business practice claims under Illinois law to be *inherently* "related to" prices, routes, or services, or facially preempted, as proposed by Pac Anchor, the Wolens Court instead examined the specific facts in the case before it and concluded that both plaintiffs' statutory and contractual claims were "related to" prices, routes, or services. (*Ibid.*)

Importantly, the passage cited by Pac Anchor wherein the *Wolens* Court addressed the potential for "intrusive regulation" through Illinois's unfair business practice statute (*Wolens*, *supra*, 513 U.S. at pp. 226-228) occurs *after* the Court has already determined the claims' "relatedness" and has turned its attention to the second part of the two-step inquiry, *viz*. a determination of whether the private class actions at issue served to "enact or enforce a law" within the meaning of the ADA (and FAAAA). The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Wolens refers to an older version of the ADA preemption provision (49 U.S.C. § 1305(a)(1)), which used the term "rates, routes, or services." In the current, recodified version, (49 U.S.C. § 41713(b)(4)), as well as in the current version of the FAAAA, the equivalent phrase has been restated as "prices, routes, or services." However, this change was not intended by Congress to express any substantive change in the meaning of the provisions. (1994 U.S. Code Cong. & Admin. News, at p. 1755 [Appx., Vol. I, at pp. 266-267]; see also Wolens, supra, 513 U.S. at p. 223 fn.1 [stating that Congress intended no substantive change in substituting the word "price" for the word "rates" when recodifying the ADA].)

Court emphasized that while both the statutory and contract claims were based on the same conduct by the airline that was clearly related to rates and services, the statutory claim alone imposed state "substantive standards" upon those rates and services, rather than simply holding the airline to its bargain. (*Id.* at pp. 232-233.) The Court concluded that the plaintiffs' claim based on the Illinois unfair business practices statute was preempted as an enforcement of law, but that the contract claim was not. (*Id.* at pp. 228-229.)

Thus, contrary to Pac Anchor's suggestion, it was not the regulatory "potential" of Illinois's unfair business practice statute that established the statute's relatedness and justified preemption. Rather, the *Wolens* Court had already made the *fact-specific* determination that all of the plaintiffs' claims were "related" to rates and services. (*Wolens*, *supra*, 513 U.S. at p. 226.) The "regulatory" nature of the unfair business practice statute was only discussed for purposes of differentiating the plaintiffs' statutory claims — which enact or enforce state law — from the plaintiffs' contractual claims — which do not. (*Id.* at pp. 228-229.) Stated otherwise, the Court did not consider whether an action under Illinois's unfair business practice statute would be preempted by the ADA if it was predicated on an underlying claim *unrelated* to "rates, routes, or services." <sup>6</sup>

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